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            USEFUL ADDRESSES

         

         
            Visitor Information Centre 

9 Castle Hill, Lincoln LN1 3AA

Tel: 01522 545458

www.visitlincoln.com

            The Collection 

Danes Terrace, Lincoln LN2 1LP

Tel: 01522 782040

www.thecollectionmuseum.com

            Museum of Lincolnshire Life 

Burton Road, Lincoln LN1 3LY

Tel: 01522 782040

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/museums

            Lincoln Castle

Castle Square, Lincoln LN1 3AA

Tel: 01522 782040

www.lincolncastle.com

            Grantham Museum

St. Peters Hill, Grantham NG31 6PY

Tel: 01476 568783

www.granthammuseum.org.uk

            Louth Museum 

4 Broadbank, Louth LN11 6EQ

Tel: 01507 601211

            North Lincolnshire Museum

Oswald Road, Scunthorpe GN15 7BD

Tel: 0174 297055

            Grimsby Fishing Heritage Centre 

Alexandra Dock, Grimsby DN31 1UZ

Tel: 01472 323345

www.nelincs.gov.uk/resident/museums

            Ayscoughfee Hall Museum 

Churchgate, Spalding PE11 2RA

Tel: 01775 76455

www.ayscoughfee.org

            Baldocks Mill Heritage Centre 

21 South Street, Bourne PE10 9LY

Tel: 01778 422775

www.bournecivicsociety.org.uk

            Epworth Rectory 

1 Rectory Street, Epworth DN9 1HX

Tel: 01427 872268

www.epwortholdrectory.org.uk

            Woolsthorpe Manor 

Water Lane, Woolsthorpe-by-Colsterworth, Grantham NG33 5PD

Tel: 01476 860338

www.nationaltrust.org.uk/woolsthor-pe-manor

            Burghley House 

Stamford PE9 3JY

Tel: 01780 752451

www.burghley.co.uk

            Battle of Britain Memorial Flight 

Dogdyke Road, Coningsby LN4 4SY

Tel: 01522 782040

www.raf.mod.uk/bbfm/visitorscentre

            Cranwell Aviation Heritage Centre 

Heath Farm, North Rauceby NG34 8QR

Tel: 01529 488490

www.cranwellaviation.co.uk

            Metheringham Airfield Visitor Centre 

Westmoor Farm, Martin Moor LN4 3BQ

Tel: 01526 378270

www.metheringhamairfield.co.uk

            Thorpe Camp Visitor Centre 

Tattershall Thorpe LN4 4PL

Tel: 01526 342249

www.thorpecamp.wix.com/visitorscentre

            Lincolnshire Aviation Heritage Centre

East Kirkby, Lincs PE23 4DE

Tel: 01790 763207

www.lincsaviation.co.uk
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                  The rolling countryside of the Lincolnshire Wolds

               

            

            PREFACE

         

         On 17th June 2010, the Lincolnshire Echo reviewed a new book entitled The Time Team Guide to the History of Britain, covering ‘everything you need to know about Britain’s past’. Apparently, the authors had managed to compile it without making a single mention of Lincolnshire! Given the prominent role played by the county in the development of politics, exploration, science, literature and every other category of human activity one cares to mention, this, in itself, represents something of an achievement.

         To be fair, television’s Time Team have made many forays into Lincolnshire, but there are many other non-fiction texts, covering a wide variety of subjects, in which the word ‘Lincolnshire’ is astonishingly absent. It Happened in Lincolnshire seeks to redress the balance.

         You may be unfortunate enough never to have visited Lincolnshire, and know little about it. Alternatively, you may live in the county and think that you know it well. In either case, read on. Inevitably, you will come to the conclusion that this book should have been entitled It All Happened in Lincolnshire.

         
             

         

         David Clark

      

   


   
      

         
            Chapter One

            INTRODUCTION TO LINCOLNSHIRE

         

         ‘Proud to be a Yellowbelly’

         The county of Lincolnshire is the second largest in England (the largest being Yorkshire), measuring 75 miles from north to south, and 45 miles from east to west. The total area was reduced in the years 1974-96 when the highly unpopular county of Humberside was in existence but, with the north of the county back in the fold, the land mass has returned to its original size.

         Lincolnshire’s administrative divisions were once closely based on topographical features and comprised just three areas: Holland, Kesteven and Lindsey. Today, the situation is more complex, with a unifying Lincolnshire County Council, within which are several District Councils. In addition, there are two authorities – North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire – created when Humberside was abolished. In 1901, the population of the county stood at 500,000. By 2011, it had increased to only 700,000. However, while population growth used to be focused on the towns, a good many of the larger villages are now themselves the focus of sustained development.

         With regard to topographical features, it has been said that there are four words the stranger to Lincolnshire needs to know: Wold, Cliff, Fen and Marsh. The Lincolnshire Wolds, comprising a mix of low hills and steep hollows, reach out to the north-west of the county from Spilsby and Horncastle to Caistor and Barton-Up-on-Humber. To the west, they are bounded by the Ancholme fen, and to the east by the marshes on the coast. A second line of hills, called the Cliff, running from the River Humber to Grantham, provides Lincolnshire with one of its most prominent features. Although only 200 feet (61metres) in height, these hills form a sharp escarpment rising from the west, and afford panoramic views. On a clear day (so they say) it is possible to see York Minster.

         The Fens reach out to the south-east from Lincoln towards The Wash. A second, isolated area, known as the Isle of Axholme, lies in the far north-east of the county. Both areas were originally swamps, created by the fresh water of river floods. The implementation of drainage schemes, initially unwelcome by the fen dwellers, turned them into rich and fertile farming land. It is this flat, arguably dreary, landscape which outsiders have come to associate with Lincolnshire. Why this should be is a mystery for, despite possessing its own charms, it constitutes only a limited portion of the county.

         The Lincolnshire Marsh is the reclaimed land along the coast forming, as many writers have remarked, some of the most valuable grazing ground in the country. While material deposited by rivers, especially in the far south, has added to the land mass, erosion along much of the Lincolnshire coastline has taken its toll. Old Skegness, for example, disappeared beneath the sea long ago, while Mablethorpe and Saltfleet both had their churches washed away by the sea. It is thought that unchecked global warming could accelerate the incursions of the ocean to the extent that Lincoln might eventually become seafront property.

         Lincolnshire was once thickly forested. By the close of the fifteenth century, the total amount of woodland was 35,000 acres. By 1900, this had increased to 45,000 acres. During the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, tree-planting projects were undertaken by philanthropic individuals such as the Earl of Yarborough, who planted extensively on his estate at Brocklesby. Currently (2016), the total county tree acreage stands at 58,512, but an element of future uncertainty has been introduced with government schemes to sell off large tracts of woodland.
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               ‘The Greyhound’, Folkingham, one of Lincolnshire’s celebrated coaching inns. Now converted into luxury flats, its glory days were in the eighteenth century, when it thrived as a staging post for coaches on the London-Lincoln run

            

         

         The drainage of the fens and marshes was bound to have an impact upon the survival of interesting and rare plants, but samphire is still prevalent on the coast. Sometimes erroneously referred to as a form of seaweed, it is often viewed as an essential component of the best menus. And wild cranberries, once harvested in abundance, are still to be found – notably at Friskney. With regard to fauna, the position today, thanks to proactive conservation, is rather healthier than it was a century ago. Writing in 1916, The Reverend J. Charles Cox notes that the buzzard ‘has not been seen since 1855’, and that ‘the last bittern’ was shot in 1848, while the short-eared owl ‘disappeared about 1890’. Regular sightings today indicate that all have made a recovery. Seals, always a common sight along the Lincolnshire coast, are now actively encouraged at Donna Nook Nature Reserve. Similarly, butterflies have been provided with a habitat in a dedicated reserve at North Witham. Interestingly, Cox also observes that because Lincolnshire is ‘a great hunting county’, there is not the slightest fear of the fox becoming extinct.

         In respect of communications, Ermine Street, the main Roman road traversing the county, remains very much intact, despite suffering from twentieth-century runway extensions at RAF Waddington and RAF Scampton. Most of the major changes to the county’s road network have been limited to the towns and cities, notably as a result of a perceived need to facilitate traffic-flow by the creation of inner-ring roads. Among proposals for future developments is an idea to extend the M11 motorway through Lincolnshire to the north-east of England. This would have a significant impact on the local economy and, in the long-term, could transform Lincolnshire into an urban county.
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               Swan House, one of Boston’s feather factories. Feathers were processed here between 1877, when the building was erected, and 1948

            

         

         Today, Lincolnshire is served by its own airport – Humberside Airport, developed from the old wartime airfield of Kirmington. This is a far cry from the early nineteenth century, when the county was a complex patchwork of railway lines, many of the villages and smaller towns having their own stations or halts, where the stillness of a brief stop was broken only by the sound of a footstep crunching the gravel. The skeletal remains are a sad reminder of changing times.

         The railway itself had superseded the canal system, which had once been of great commercial significance. The main canals – Stainforth & Keadby, Louth, Sleaford Navigation and Grantham – survive, but they are now used for recreational rather than industrial pursuits. Similarly, Lincolnshire’s great natural waterway, the River Witham, served Lincoln’s Brayford Wharf, the oldest inland harbour in the country, and a hive of industry, with warehouses, granaries, breweries and mills. The latter have now been replaced by the main University of Lincoln campus, together with a host of coffee houses and restaurants.

         Tourism now constitutes an important part of Lincolnshire’s economy, and the historical importance of heavy industry is often forgotten. During the First World War, for example, Lincoln made a significant contribution to the war effort, its factories producing prodigious quantities of tanks and aircraft. This was facilitated, in part, by the growth of the iron and steel industry in the far north of the county. The ironstone deposits of Swinethorpe and Frodingham had been exploited by the Romans, but were neglected and not rediscovered until 1859. Iron foundries were established and the first steel produced in 1912 in the new town of Scunthorpe. Just over a century later, the industry is in crisis and, like many another Lincolnshire settlement, Scunthorpe may have to reinvent itself.

         Primarily, of course, Lincolnshire has always been a farming county. Potatoes, grain and vegetables of every variety, including continental imports like pak choi, abound. Mustard is not now so prolific and tulip and daffodil production in the south-east of the county has declined, as reflected in the demise of the annual Spalding Flower Parade, which gave its last display in 2013. However, beetroot and celery are still valuable specialist crops, together with poppies. The latter were a source of opium, and they remain in demand for the manufacture of morphine.

         Lincolnshire was particularly famous for its shire horses, the demand for which declined rapidly during the first half of the twentieth century. At one point, the breed itself was at risk, although there has been a slight increase in the use of the shire horse both for riding and as a working animal. Also at risk is the Lincolnshire Long-Wool sheep, once valued for its heavy fleece. The Lincolnshire Curly-Coated pig is now thought to be extinct, but Lincolnshire Red Shorthorn cattle continue to thrive, albeit under the shortened title of Lincolnshire Reds.

         It follows that the county was also strong in agricultural-related industries. Cattle-cake was produced at mills in Lincoln and Gainsborough, and agricultural machinery was manufactured in Lincoln and Grantham. Factories processing feathers were particularly prolific; there were five in Boston alone.

         One of the saddest declines is that of the fishing industry. In the early twentieth century, Grimsby, with a fleet of over 500 vessels, was one of the greatest fishing ports in the world. Today, only a handful of trawlers operate from the port. Boston, too, once participated in the deep-sea fishing industry, but catches here are now limited to shellfish – and even this remnant of a once great industry is now threatened with extinction. In addition to sea fishing, Lincolnshire was also once famed for its freshwater fish. The remains of medieval fish ponds, once attached to monasteries and manors, created for the purpose of farming fish, are to be found throughout the county, and are a haven for anglers.

         In terms of architecture, the old Lincolnshire guide books tend to concentrate, in some cases almost exclusively, on descriptions of the churches of the county. Reverend Cox divides Lincolnshire churches into three categories: those of the old Lindsey district which are often ‘small and mean’; Kesteven with its ‘multitude of fine churches’ and Holland, where it is ‘almost impossible to overrate the size and beauty of the parish churches.’ As the twentieth century progressed, and the church ceased to be the focus of village life, more and more were declared redundant. Some of these are in the care of the Lincolnshire Old Churches Trust and the Churches Conservation Trust, while others have been sold off.
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               A view of Lincoln Cathedral from Brayford Wharf

            

         

         In addition to Lincoln Cathedral, the jewel in the crown, noteworthy flourishing places of worship include: St. Denis’s Church, Sleaford with a canopied rood-screen regarded as the best in the country; St. Wulfran’s, Grantham, with its outstanding steeple; St. Andrew’s, Heckington, with many exquisite features; St. Botolph’s, Boston, famous as ‘Boston Stump’; Holy Trinity, Tattershall, with its profusion of fine windows.

         Forgotten churches, of which county guides often make little or no mention include: the restored Baptist Chapel at Monksthorpe. Built in 1701, when it was expedient for non-conformists to worship in out-of-the-way places, it has a full immersion outdoor tank for baptisms; Brauncewell’s Church of All Saints is all that remains of a deserted medieval village; St. Faith’s, Kelstern, set on a hill in a field; St. Leonard’s Chapel, Kirkstead, which has been described as ‘one of the loveliest examples of 13th century architecture in our land’; Old All Saints in Great Steeping, hidden away at the end of an old track and surely one of Lincolnshire’s best-kept secrets; St. Margaret’s at Winceby was demolished long ago, but the foundations and a few gravestones in what was once the churchyard can still be seen.

         Rare items to be found in the county’s churches include: an hour-glass stand, by which the length of sermons would be timed, at the wonderfully appointed Church of St. Peter & St. Paul in Belton; the oldest (1921) RAF commemorative stained glass window in the country at St. Mary’s, Welton; the curious one-handed clock face of St. Michael’s Church in Coningsby.

         One of the county’s most modern churches is St. Michael’s in Waddington, built in 1954 to replace a twelfth century church destroyed in a bombing raid. Another place of worship is currently (2016) under construction – a purpose-built mosque for Lincoln, expressing the county’s growing cultural diversity.

         The county’s noteworthy non-ecclesiastical remains include the castles of Lincoln, Somerton and Tattershall, the latter, home of Ralph Cromwell, a splendid piece of brickwork of the fourteenth century. Non-military structures include the Jews’ Houses in Lincoln and The Angel Inn at Grantham, which numbered Richard III among its guests. The stone manor houses of Great Ponton and Irnham remind us of the county’s famed building material – Lincolnshire Limestone, still quarried at Ancaster.

         There are many imposing buildings which, although in use until comparatively recently, now lie abandoned. Most people would agree that new uses should be found for architectural gems, and conversion into housing is one way forward. St, John’s Hospital (the ‘County Pauper Lunatic Asylum’) at Bracebridge Heath opened in 1852 and closed in 1990. A number of the old hospital buildings now form the core of a housing development. From 1902, a similar establishment – designed by G. T. Hine, who specialised in mental hospitals – operated in South Rauceby. During the Second World War, it was taken over by the RAF for the treatment of aircrew, and included a dedicated burns unit. Although Queen Victoria Hospital at East Grinstead is most closely associated with the wartime work of the plastic surgeon, Archibald McIndoe, his pioneering surgery was also carried out at South Rauceby. After the war, the hospital reverted to its former use, eventually closing in 1998. It, too, is now a housing development, but many of the original buildings – including the burns unit – have been demolished, thus destroying a not insignificant part of the county’s aviation heritage.
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               The Coningsby village sign draws attention to the settlement’s role as wartime bomber base and to St. Michael’s Church, with its famous one-handed clock

            

         

         Finally, one must not forget the comparatively humble domestic dwellings which constitute Lincolnshire’s villages – the real spirit of Lincolnshire, referred to by Arthur Mee as the county’s gems – and gems they are, ‘sequestered places which have delights and surprises for all who come upon them’: Revesby, Faldingworth, Nocton, Kirby Underwood, Belton, Skendleby, Redbourne, to name but a handful. 
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               Tattershall Castle was developed from a traditional 13th Century castle by Ralph Cromwell, Treasurer of England 1433-43

            

         

         This leaves only one question: what is the meaning of the phrase ‘proud to be a yellowbelly’? A yellowbelly is someone who has been born and bred in Lincolnshire – and proud of the fact. Title holders can even acquire a ‘Proud to be a Yellowbelly’ sticker to affix to their car windscreens. Well-pleased they may be, but they will never agree on the origins of this most peculiar nickname. Many suggestions have been put forward. Some say that opium from poppies, prescribed as an early treatment for malaria (from which the Fen dwellers suffered) turned the skin yellow. Others argue that stage-coaches which served the county had yellow livery. The most likely explanation is a variation on the latter. Officers of the Royal North Lincolnshire Militia, formed in 1759, wore yellow waistcoats, and it is probable that their enemies called them ‘yellowbellies’, in the same way that Confederate troops in the American Civil War referred to the blue-coated opposition as ‘blue-bellies’.

      

   


   
      

         
            Chapter Two

            MYTHS & LEGENDS

         

         King John’s Lost Treasure

         In some ways – certainly as far as the popular imagination is concerned – we are more familiar with the period of King John’s tenure as prince-in-waiting to the throne, than with the events of his actual reign. Permanently involved in evil schemes to supplant his elder brother King Richard III, who is absent fighting in the Holy Land, John is always outwitted by the resourcefulness of Robin Hood.

         The single event of John’s reign seemingly worthy of note is the creation of The Great Charter or Magna Carta, famously signed at Runnymede, near Windsor Castle, on 15th June 1215. Although much of the document is concerned with the rights of the barons, a number of the clauses were later proved useful in framing the principles of democratic government. A rare copy is housed in a specially-constructed vault in Lincoln Castle.

         Overall, John’s seventeen-year reign was not a success. Most of the crown’s possessions in France were lost and king and barons were permanently in conflict. By the beginning of 1216, the king was in dire straits. King Alexander II of Scotland had come out in support of the barons, and Prince Louis (soon to become King Louis VIII) of France followed his example. In his attempts to meet these challenges to his authority, John spent what proved to be the final nine months of his life constantly on the move.

         The month of September 1216 found him in the rebel baronial stronghold of East Anglia. After relieving the city of Lincoln, which the barons had invested, he marched on to Kings Lynn. During military campaigns, it was customary for a king to take his treasure – including the crown jewels – along with him, as part of his baggage train. Sometimes, the baggage train, of necessity travelling slowly, trailed behind, but it is probable that John was with his baggage train when he returned westward from King’s Lynn.

         According to the contemporary chronicler, Roger of Wendover, as the king and his army were crossing the River Wellester – a long-since vanished estuary flowing into The Wash – ‘the land opened in the middle of the water and caused whirlpools which sucked in everything’. John and his army were able to escape, but ‘all his carts, waggons and baggage’, including his treasure and the crown jewels were lost.

         The night immediately following the disaster was spent at ‘a convent called Swineshead’. Roger is referring to Swineshead Abbey, a Cistercian monastery founded in 1134. Here, John was ‘seized with a violent fever’, as the result of the anguish he felt about the loss of all his worldly goods. Nevertheless, he subsequently continued on his way, getting as far as Newark Castle, where he died on 18th October.

         After his death, there were rumours that he had been poisoned. Raphael Holinshed, whose Chronicles of England, Scotland and Ireland appeared three centuries later, gives ‘Wellestreme sands’ as the location of the baggage train disaster and notes that a monk of Swineshead Abbey, ‘being moved with zeal for the oppression of his country, gave the king poison in a cup of ale’.

         Shakespeare used Holinshead as a basis for his own version of John’s end. In the penultimate scene of The Life and Death of King John – set in Swineshead – Hubert confides to Philip, natural son of the Earl of Faulconbridge:

         The king, I fear is poisoned by a monk.

         And it is Philip, who has been fighting the barons on John’s behalf, who suffers the loss of the baggage train:

         
            I’ll tell thee, Hubert, half my power this night,

            Passing these flats, are taken by the tide;

            These Lincoln Washes have devoured them;

         

         Historians believe that John died of dysentery and, given the symptoms of the affliction, it is easy to understand how the rumours of poison arose. Similarly, while it is likely that the baggage train incident did occur, there is no solid evidence that the royal treasure was lost. The real import of the story at the time lay in its utility for John’s enemies who publicised the incident as just retribution for all the king’s perceived wickedness – much as the punishment inflicted upon Pharaoh as the Egyptians followed the Israelites across the Red Sea:

         And the waters returned, and covered the chariots, and the horsemen, and all the host…

         In the longer term, the baggage train has developed into a holy grail… It may have been lost near Wisbech or, alternatively, further west, in the vicinity of Sutton Bridge. If it does exist, it lies buried beneath centuries of accumulated silt, but this has not discouraged treasure hunters from trying to find it. Latest developments in LIDAR technology which combines laser technology with GPS data, showing the way the landscape has changed over time, may offer new hope.

         Byard’s Leap

         Byard’s Leap, off the Newark road, six miles to the west of Sleaford, is the scene of one of Lincolnshire’s best-known legends. The story is as follows: A witch by the name of Old Meg lived in a cave with her two children. She was a malicious crone, making her neighbours’ lives a misery by bringing down illness upon them and ruining crops. A local old soldier made it his business to do away with her. In need of an alert horse, he visited a pond where horses were drinking and threw a pebble into the water. The horse that reacted most quickly went by the name of ‘Blind Bayard’, and although it was, indeed, blind, the soldier chose it for his mount. Approaching the witch’s cave, he called to her to come out. She replied that he would have to wait until she was ready. When she did appear, he struck at her with his sword and she sprang up behind him, sinking her sharp nails into the horse’s flanks – spurring the terrified animal into making a prodigious leap of some 60 feet (18 metres). The soldier managed to bring ‘Blind Bayard’ under control, swung around and drove his sword into Old Meg’s heart. There are many variations on this traditional tale. Sometimes, a shepherd plays the role of the old soldier. In other versions, ‘Blind Bayard’ is accidentally killed along with Old Meg.

         The story retains interest because the spot where it all allegedly happened is marked by an information panel, adjacent to four horseshoes set in a small gravel plot, indicating where Bayard came to rest. A second set, marking the point where Bayard took off lie in a copse at the other side of the car parking area. A mounting stone, where the rider mounted the horse, can be seen across the road at the entrance to the farm complex. Legend has it that the witch’s cave lies beneath the present-day garage.

         The real interest in this traditional tale lies in the name of the horse. Bayard is a mythical beast which first appeared in the twelfth century, in the French chansons de geste (‘Songs of Heroic Deeds’). Here, Bayard is a rather wonderful beast, having the ability to adjust its size to accommodate four riders. Although the steed of Byards Leap still possesses almost magical properties by virtue of the enormous jump it is capable of making, Bayard found its way into the English Language as a synonym for foolishness and reckless behaviour. 
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               One of two sets of horseshoes, flanked by an information panel, at the site of Byard’s Leap

            

         

         Thus, Bayard is the name of the foolish horse belonging to Troilus in Geoffrey Chaucer’s fourteenth century adaptation of Troilus and Criseyde:

         
            But every day things that fools trust in end

            As proud Bayard begins to shy and skip

            From the right course…..

         

         In The Canon Yeoman’s Tale, Chaucer presents Bayard as a blind creature:

         
            You are as heedless as is Bayard the blind horse

            That blunders forth and takes account of no peril.

         

         In 1532, Thomas More refers to Bayard in a similar sense in The Confutations of Tynedale’s Answer:

         ….the Scripture, albeit many places be plain, and in the hardest place good folk may take fruit if they play not as Tynedale doth be bold upon it like Blind Bayard and think it plain and open….

         Allusions were still being made a century later, in John Milton’s tract Doctrine and Discipline of Divorce:

         …..being a bayard who never had the soul to know what conversing means.

         A hundred years later, usage had declined. Dr. Johnson makes no mention of the word ‘bayard’, while Bailey’s Universal Etymological English Dictionary, published in 1721, merely defines it as a bay horse. The OED revived the definition relating to blind recklessness or, as a proper noun, ‘a self-confident ignoramus’, giving the date 1529 as the first recorded usage in the latter respect.

         ‘Bayard’ is also used in several place names. In 1249, for instance, ‘Baynard’s Green’ near Bicester in Oxfordshire was one of only three places authorised by King Richard I to hold tournaments. (In the mid-seventeenth century, the six-mile open stretch of land was still being used for horse-racing.) Similarly, it is probable that in Lincolnshire, the Knights Templar of Temple Bruer (see page 26) held tournaments in the locality of Byard’s Leap. The legend may even have developed from some feat of horsemanship that occurred at one of these events.

         Imps and Demons

         Weekly local newspaper reports of the exploits of Lincoln City AFC often carry headlines referring to the ‘Imps’, for that is the club’s nickname. It is derived from the Lincoln Imp which, as its name suggests, is currently the symbol of the City of Lincoln itself.

         The Lincoln Imp has its origins in Lincoln Cathedral. According to folklore, a pair of imps – mischievous demons, regarded as the Devil’s offspring – either by accident or design visited the cathedral. Entering the retro-choir, they embarked on an orgy of destruction, which was brought to a halt by the appearance of an Angel who turned one of the imps into stone. It remains transfixed in a seated posture, its hands holding its right leg which rests on the left one.

         Its companion escaped and, according to some sources, made its way to Grimsby, where it entered the Church of St. James and commenced wreaking havoc. Again, an Angel came to the rescue and gave the creature a spanking before turning it to stone. Called by some, the Grimsby Imp, it can be seen (rubbing its sore rump) above the marble altar in the South Aisle. In an alternative version, the second imp made it only as far as the south porch of the Bishop’s door of Lincoln Cathedral, where it jumped on a witch’s humped back. Both imp and witch were turned to stone, as depicted in the carving above the door.
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               The Lincoln Imp, in the Angel Choir, Lincoln Cathedral

            

         

         The story of the Lincoln Imp also extends to Lincoln College, Oxford. In 1899, the college was presented with an image of the Lincoln Imp which stood in the front quad above the doorway to Hall. In 2001, having become somewhat weather-beaten, it was taken down and replaced by a new image. The college magazine is called The Lincoln Imp and the boat club has taken the Imp as its mascot. In addition, it is claimed that the Lincoln College Imp gave rise to the phrase ‘to look as the devil looks over Lincoln’, describing someone who speaks unfavourably of another.

         The popularity of the Lincoln Cathedral Imp dates from the late nineteenth century with a Lincoln jeweller called James Ward Usher. His father started the business, but it did not begin to flourish until James assumed control. An astute businessman, he decided to exploit the Lincoln Imp by using it as a motif for his wares. By patenting the idea, he ensured that no one else could use it, and he was soon producing everything from souvenir spoons to expensive tie-pins and brooches. Although quite grotesque, they became very fashionable. Even the Prince of Wales, the future Edward VII, wore one of the tie-pins bearing a diamond-studded imp. Usher became so well-known that it is said anyone who wanted to write to him only had to address a letter to ‘The Silversmith who makes and sells the Lincoln Imp’. The items had the added appeal of supposedly bringing good luck to the owner. They were certainly lucky for Usher. The wealth he accumulated allowed him to make a bequest which established the city’s Usher Gallery, with its array of objets d’art – much of it from Usher’s own private collection. 

         Imps and demons can also be seen on the exterior of churches in the form of gargoyles – grotesque sculptures designed to channel rainwater away from the walls. Lincolnshire churches furnish many examples. For example, at St. Laurence’s Church in Surfleet, a demon’s head channels water into a drainpipe via its open mouth. St. Andrew’s Church in Heckington has several such figures. The Churches of All Saints in Moulton and St. Michael’s in Coningsby both feature fully-fledged winged demons – the latter figure functioning as a bracket to support a projection of guttering.

         Gargoyles take many forms, and it would appear to be singularly inappropriate for demonic designs to be deliberately chosen to decorate places of worship. Stonemasons, who were generally given a free hand when it came to minor features of exterior décor, may just have allowed their imagination to run free. Alternatively, given that running water is traditionally recognised as an ‘antidote’ to various forms of supernatural evil, the image of a devil with water gushing from its mouth might have made some kind of sense to the medieval mind.

         Still less satisfactory is the concept of representations of imps and demons being used to adorn the interiors of churches. Yet, they appear in profusion, the Imp, for example, being only one of many sculptures of devilish figures to be found within the retro-choir of Lincoln Cathedral. It is said that such images were provided to remind worshippers of the on-going battle between good and evil. Or perhaps the image of a demon waiting to pounce on the unwary was simply a useful tool for encouraging sinners to abandon their wicked ways.
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               The Usher Gallery, Lincoln 

            

         

         Set in Stone

         Lincolnshire possesses very little in the way of ancient stones. Other counties abound these menhirs, standing singly as monoliths or severally as stone circles, and while Lincolnshire undoubtedly once possessed henges, there now remain what can only be described as a few oddities.

         One strange stone of uncertain origin is the Winceby Stone, situated on the grass verge on B1195 near the hamlet of Winceby. It used to stand in the adjoining field, where it stood for centuries, having the reputation of being immovable. It was also believed that buried treasure lay underneath. From time to time, therefore, attempts were made to shift it. Collectors of folklore usually quote an instance in which several horses, yoked to chains fastened around the stone, almost succeeded in pulling it over. Then, at a crucial moment, one of the men standing by uttered an oath, at which the Devil suddenly appeared on top of the stone and firmly stamped it back into place. Scratches resembling claw marks on top of the stone were cited as evidence.
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               The Winceby Stone, flanked by an information panel providing details of the English Civil War encounter, ‘Winceby Fight’

            

         

         An alternative explanation for these scratches is that they were made by troops sharpening their swords prior to the Battle of Winceby (see page 43). The position of the stone coincides with the likely deployment of Royalist participants in the battle, and it is possible that the stone was used for such a purpose. In 1970, with the aid of specialised lifting gear, the stone was moved to its present location. Instead of treasure, the removal team discovered a selection of broken ploughshares, suggesting that the stone was gradually uncovered during centuries of ploughing.

         The Fonaby Sack Stone, like the Winceby Stone, once stood in the middle of a field, wreaking similar damage on ploughs. It now stands in the hedgerow bordering a farm track leading from Fonaby Top Farm, to the north of Caistor. The legend surrounding this stone concerns St. Paulinus, a Roman missionary and the first Bishop of York who died in AD644. One day, mounted on an ass, he was travelling through the area when he came to a spot where a farmer was gathering corn. Paulinus asked for some of the grain from a sack standing in the field. The farmer told him that it wasn’t a sack, but a stone. As it was clearly not the man’s intention to share any of his grain, Paulinus promptly turned the sack into a stone – and a stone it remained. Efforts to move it always brought ill-luck to anyone foolish enough to try. For example, one of the masons working on the construction of Pelham Pillar (see page 29) chipped a bit off to carve into a model and was promptly killed in a fall.

         In its original state, the stone may have consisted of two or three separate blocks, the structure being broken up to facilitate transport, when it was finally moved in 1917.

         The Drake Stones stand outside St. Edith’s Church in the village of Anwick. Originally, they made up a single stone which stood in a field half a mile to the north west.

         Legends surrounding it are slightly different to those focussing on the Winceby Stone and the Fonaby Stone. A farmer was supposedly ploughing a field when his plough and horses sank into the earth and disappeared from view. A drake flew out of the hole that was left in the ground. The next day, the farmer returned to find that a boulder, in the shape of a drake’s head, had appeared in the middle of the hole. Tales of buried treasure, located beneath it in a cave inhabited by the Devil, and attracting bad luck to anyone foolish enough to search for it, also developed. During the late nineteenth century, antiquarians suggested that the stone had druidical connections, constituting nothing less than ‘a sacred object of adoration’ for the druids. It had been chosen because of its egg-like shape – the egg symbolising the fountain of life. Furthermore, the name ‘drake’ had its origins in the celtic draig, meaning dragon, or the deity to which the stone was dedicated.
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               The Drake Stones, St. Edith’s Church, Anwick

            

         

         What seems to have happened is that the Drake Stone, like its counterparts, standing in the middle of a field, was a hazard to the plough. Instead of moving it, it was decided to excavate the earth surrounding it so that it could be sunk to a safe level. At some point in the 1920s, the stone was moved to its present location at the church. When it was uncovered, it was already in two parts, a smaller portion having broken off from the main mass. Some say that it did not acquire its name until after its relocation, when it was observed that two drakes were using it as a shelter.

         In reality, it is probable that all of the above mentioned stones are glacial erratics, which is to say that that they were carried to their final resting places by glacial ice. In this context, it is interesting to note that the Drake Stone has a water-worn appearance and what appear to be traces of sea shells embedded in its surface.
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